
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 
 
MIRACYLE THOMPSON    * 
104 Enchanted Hills Road, Apt. 202        
Owings Mills, Maryland 21117   * 
 
On behalf of herself and her household, and   * 
on behalf of all others similarly situated    CASE NO.: 24-C-09-002775 
       * 
 and, 
       * 
EARLINE AUGUSTUS-EL 
2212 Brookfield Avenue    * 
Baltimore, Maryland 21217 
       * 
On behalf of herself and her household, and 
on behalf of all others similarly situated  * 
 
 Plaintiffs. 
       * 
 vs.       
       * 
BRENDA DONALD, in her official 
capacity as Secretary of the     * 
Department of Human Resources 
311 West Saratoga Street    * 
Baltimore, Maryland 21201. 
       * 
 Defendant. 
       * 
Serve On: 
 Office of the Attorney General  * 
 Douglas F. Gansler 
 Attorney General    * 
 200 St. Paul Place  
 Baltimore, Maryland 21202   * 
 
*  * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF 
 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This is an action brought by low-income Maryland residents who are entitled to 

but not receiving food stamps, Medicaid, and Temporary Cash Assistance (TCA).  The 



Defendant has failed to provide Maryland residents with timely determinations of eligibility and 

issuance of benefits under these programs as required by law.  As a result of Defendant’s delays 

in processing applications and providing benefits, low-income Maryland individuals and families 

face hunger, homelessness, and serious health risks.   

2. This action challenges the policy, pattern, practice or custom of Defendant’s 

failure to process food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA applications and provide benefits in a timely 

manner in violation of federal and state law.  The Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief 

and asks this Court to enter an order declaring that Defendant is in violation of state and federal 

law governing the provision of food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA in a timely manner; and 

enjoining Defendant to process all applications and provide benefits for food stamps, Medicaid, 

and TCA in the time frames required by state and federal law.     

JURISDICTION  

3. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc.§§ 1-

501, 3-403, and 3-406.  

4. Plaintiffs’ causes of action for violation of federal law arise under 42. U.S.C. § 

1983. 

PARTIES 

a. Plaintiff Miracyle Thompson 

5. Plaintiff Miracyle Thompson is a 20 year-old female who resides with her 

husband and two children in Baltimore County, Maryland. 

b. Plaintiff Earline Augustus-El 

6. Plaintiff Earline Augustus-El is a fifty-seven year old female who resides with her 

partner, child, and two grandchildren in Baltimore City, Maryland. 
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c. Defendant Brenda Donald 

7. Defendant Brenda Donald is the Secretary of the Maryland Department of Human 

Resources (DHR). The Secretary is responsible for the operation of DHR, including the Family 

Investment Administration (FIA), which is a unit of DHR. 

8. Defendant Donald administers food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA, including the 

processing of applications for benefits through the FIA.  The FIA delegates to local Departments 

of Social Services (DSS) the responsibility for processing applications for all benefits.  DSS is 

subject to the supervision, direction and control of Defendant Donald. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

9. Plaintiffs bring this action on their own behalf and pursuant to Rule 2-231 on 

behalf of a class defined as: 

All Maryland residents who, since April 29, 2006, have sought to apply for, 
applied for, are applying for, or will apply for or seek to apply for food stamps, 
Medicaid, and/or TCA.   

 
10. The size of the class is so numerous and geographically dispersed throughout the 

state as to make joinder of all class members impracticable. Thousands of families and 

individuals in Maryland apply for food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA each month. 

11. There are questions of law and fact common to the class, including whether the 

Defendant has violated state and federal law in failing to provide food stamps, Medicaid, and 

TCA within the time frames required. 

12. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of class members. 

13. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.  Plaintiffs 

have no interests adverse to or in conflict with those of other class members.  Plaintiffs’ 

attorneys are experienced in class action, civil rights, and public benefits litigation. 

3 
 



14. Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds applicable to all members of the 

class, making final declaratory and injunctive relief appropriate with respect to the class as a 

whole. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

a.  Food Stamps  

15. Congress established the federally funded, state-administered food stamp 

program1 in 1964 to “…safeguard the health and well-being of the nation’s populations by 

raising levels of nutrition among low-income households.” 7 U.S.C. § 2011; 7 C.F.R. § 271.1. 

16. The Maryland food stamp program provides nutrition assistance to help low-

income households buy the food they need for good health.  COMAR 07.03.17.01.  The 

Maryland food stamp program is implemented in accordance with the federal Food and Nutrition 

Act. Md. Code Ann. Hum. Servs.  § 5-501.  

17. Under federal and state law, households must be permitted to file an application 

on the first day they contact the local social services office. 7 U.S.C. § 2020(e)(2)(B)(iii); 7 

C.F.R. § 273.2(c)(1), (2)(i); COMAR 07.03.17.14. 

18. If an individual or household seeks to apply jointly for cash assistance and food 

stamps, any delays in processing of the application for cash assistance may not result in a delay 

of the processing of the food stamps application. 7 U.S.C. §§ 2014(b), 2020(e)(1)(B)(1), 

2020(e)(3); 7 C.F.R. § 273.2(g)(1); COMAR 07.03.11.14H. 

19. DHR and its delegate agencies, DSS, must provide food stamps to eligible 

applicants no later than 30 days after the date of application and expedited food stamps to 

                                                 
1 Effective October 1, 2008, the federal Food Stamp Program was renamed the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance 
Program (SNAP) and the federal Food Stamp Act was renamed the Food and Nutrition Act of 2008. Sections  
4001 and 4002  of P.L. 110-246.  In Maryland, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program benefits are commonly 
known as food stamps.  In this complaint, Plaintiff uses the term “food stamps.” 
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affirmatively qualified households within 7 calendar days. 7 U.S.C. §§ 2020(e)(3), 2020(e)(9); 7 

C.F.R. §§ 273.2(g)(1), 273.2(i)(3)(i); COMAR 07.03.17.14B, 07.03.17.19. 

b.  Medicaid 

20. Title XIX of the Social Security Act, commonly referred to as “the Medicaid 

Act,” provides medical assistance services to individuals who lack financial means to obtain 

health care.  42 U.S.C. § 1396. 

21. Each state may choose whether or not to participate in the Medicaid program. 

Once a state chooses to participate, it must operate its Medicaid program in accordance with 

mandatory federal requirements. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a). 

22. The Medicaid program in Maryland operates under the statutory authority of  Md. 

Code Ann. Health Gen. § 15-103. Medicaid in Maryland is known as “Medical Assistance.” 

COMAR 10.09.24.02(B)(32) and (33). 

23. An individual wishing to apply for Medicaid2 must be given the opportunity to do 

so without delay. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8); 42 C.F.R. § 435.906. 

24. DHR must act on Medicaid applications promptly and without delay. Under 

federal law, the application must be processed and eligibility determined within 45 days.  42 

C.F.R. § 435.911(a)(1). 

25. However, in Maryland, Medicaid applications must be processed and eligibility 

determined within 30 days. COMAR 10.09.24.04J.  

c.  Temporary Cash Assistance (TCA) 

26. Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) is a federal block grant to states 

to operate a program to provide assistance to needy families with children.  42 U.S.C. § 601(a). 

                                                 
2 For purposes of this complaint, Medicaid refers to Medicaid for Families and Children (FAC) and Maryland 
Children’s Health Insurance Program (MCHIP) applications filed at DSS. 
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27. Each participating state must have a TANF Plan which outlines the state’s 

program to provide assistance to needy families with children and which sets forth the objective 

criteria for the delivery of benefits and the determination of eligibility. 42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(1)(A), 

602(a)(1)(B)(iii). 

28. Maryland’s cash assistance program funded by the TANF block grant is called 

Temporary Cash Assistance (TCA). Md. Code An., Hum. Servs. § 5-301(e). 

29. Applications for TCA must be processed and eligibility determined as promptly 

as possible but not later than 30 days following the date of application.  COMAR 07.03.03.05A. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO THE CLASS 

30. Individuals seeking to obtain food stamps, Medicaid, or TCA apply at a local DSS 

office by completing the DHR Application for Assistance.  This form is a combined application 

for food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA. 

31. Defendant Donald has a policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide 

food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA to eligible persons within thirty days, and expedited food 

stamps to eligible persons within seven calendar days. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS OF PLAINTIFF 

a. Plaintiff Miracyle Thompson 

32. Plaintiff Miracyle Thompson lives with her husband and her two children, ages 

one and two, in Baltimore County, Maryland.  Ms. Thompson is eight months pregnant.  

33. Ms. Thompson and her family currently live with her mother-in-law.  Ms. 

Thompson pays $400.00 a month in rent and approximately $150.00-$200.00 per month in utility 

bills. 
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34. Ms. Thompson is unemployed.  Her husband works at an AT&T retail store and 

earns approximately $400.00-$450.00 every two weeks. 

35. Ms. Thompson’s husband does not receive health insurance through his job.     

36. Ms. Thompson’s two sons suffer from a chronic and hereditary disease, which 

requires a special diet and medication including daily doses of penicillin. One of her sons also 

has an iron deficiency, which requires additional medication.  Her youngest son was recently 

hospitalized for approximately three weeks. 

37. On February 26, 2009 Ms. Thompson applied for food stamps and Medicaid on 

behalf of her family at a Baltimore County DSS office. She was interviewed that same day and 

provided documents to support her application.  The caseworker requested additional documents 

which Ms. Thompson provided on March 3, 2009. 

38. Ms. Thompson was granted Medicaid for herself shortly after March 3, 2009. 

39. On or about April 5, 2009, Ms. Thompson received a letter from DSS, dated 

March 30, 2009, stating that her family’s Medicaid and food stamp applications had been 

delayed because an “agency delay occurred beyond our control.”  

40. After receiving the DSS notice dated March 30, 2009, Ms. Thompson called her 

caseworker several times and left messages.  Since the March 30, 2009 notice she has not 

received any further communication from DSS.  

41. As of April 29, 2009 Ms. Thompson’s family’s food stamps application has been 

pending for 62 days. 

42. As of April 29, 2009 Ms. Thompson’s husband’s and children’s Medicaid 

application has been pending for 62 days. 

b. Plaintiff Earline Augustus-El 
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43. Plaintiff Earline Augustus-El lives with her partner, her daughter, age seventeen 

and two grandchildren, ages two and three in Baltimore City, Maryland. 

44. Ms. Augustus-El owns her own home and has paid off her mortgage. 

45. Between June 2008 and March 4, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El was receiving 

employment income from accumulated and donated leave from her job at Child Protective 

Services, Baltimore City Department of Social Services.   

46. Ms. Augustus-El has applied for retirement disability through the state pension 

plan and has applied for social security disability benefits. 

47. Ms. Augustus-El has diabetes and has been without her diabetes supplies and 

medication for two months.  She has been unable to see her doctor because she does not have 

insurance.  Her blood sugar is out of control and she is experiencing foot pain, stinging and 

numbness which affects her ability to walk.   

48. Ms. Augustus-El’s partner is unemployed and has no source of income.  He 

worked as an auto mechanic in the past but is unable to work now due to back problems. 

49. Ms. Augustus-El’s two grandsons receive Medicaid, and have received TCA in 

the amount of $357 since July 2008. 

50. On March 19, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El applied for TCA, food stamps and Medicaid 

for herself, her partner, and her seventeen year old daughter.  She started the application on or 

about March 11, 2009 using the on-line Service Access and Information Link system (SAIL).  

She completed the application on March 19, 2009 by signing the application and faxing it the 

SAIL office. 

51. Ms. Augustus-El received a notice from DSS dated March 20, 2009 approving her 

food stamp application for the entire household in the amount of $170. 
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52. Shortly after March 19, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El received a Medicaid card in the 

mail for her seventeen year old daughter.  She did not receive a card for herself or her partner. 

53. On April 10, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El was interviewed at the DSS office regarding 

her TCA application. She completed the required substance abuse screening that same day.  DSS 

requested verification of her grandsons’ physical exams which she provided. 

54. In early June 2009 Ms. Augustus-El received a letter from DSS requesting income 

verification for her partner.  She returned the wage form to DSS on June 9, 2009 verifying that 

her partner has no income. 

55. After April 10, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El called her caseworker at DSS several times 

but did not receive any return phone calls. 

56. On June 15, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El went to DSS and filed an appeal due to the 

lack of action on her March 2009 application. 

57. On June 15, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El spoke by phone with a supervisor at DSS, Ms. 

Jackson, who said she would review her case.  On June 16, 2009 Ms. Augustus-El received a 

phone call from Ms. Johnson at DSS who said she would review her case.  On June 25, 2009 Ms. 

Augustus-El spoke with the manager at DSS, Ms. Murphy, who said she would handle the 

Medicaid case and would assign a case worker to complete the TCA case. 

58. Ms. Augustus-El has never received any decision from DSS regarding her March 

application for TCA and Medicaid.  As of July 6, 2009 her applications for TCA and Medicaid 

have been pending for 109 days. 
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

First Claim -Violation of federal law by failing to provide timely food stamps 

59. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the above paragraphs.  

60. Defendant’s  policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide food stamps 

to eligible individuals and families within thirty days of application, and expedited food stamps 

to affirmatively qualified individuals and families within seven calendar days, violates 7 U.S.C. 

§§ 2020(e)(3), (e)(9), and 7 C.F.R. §§ 273.2(a)(2), (g)(1), and (i)(3)(i). 

Second Claim -Violation of state law by failing to provide timely food stamps 

61. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the above paragraphs.  

62. Defendant’s policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide food stamps 

to eligible individuals and families within thirty days of application, and expedited food stamps 

to affirmatively qualified individuals and families within seven calendar days, violates COMAR 

07.03.17.19. 

Third Claim -Violation of federal law by failing to provide Medicaid within 45 days 

63. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the above paragraphs.  

64. Defendant’s policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide Medicaid to 

eligible families and children within forty-five days of application violates 42 U.S.C. § 

1396a(a)(8) and 42 C.F.R. § 435.911 (a)(2). 

Fourth Claim -Violation of state law by failing to provide Medicaid within 30 days 

10 
 



65. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the above paragraphs.  

66. Defendant’s policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide Medicaid to 

eligible families and children within thirty days of application violates COMAR 10.09.24.04J. 

Fifth Claim -Violation of state law for failing to provide TCA within 30 days 
 

67. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the above paragraphs.  

68. Defendant’s policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide TCA to 

eligible families within thirty days of application violates COMAR 07.03.03.05A. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court: 

A. Certify this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 2-231; 

B. Preliminarily enjoin Defendant to provide food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA to 

eligible individuals and families within the federal- and state-mandated time frames; 

C. Permanently enjoin Defendant to provide food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA to 

eligible individuals and families within the federal- and state-mandated time frames; 

D. Declare that Defendant’s policy, pattern, practice or custom of failing to provide 

food stamps, Medicaid, and TCA in a timely manner to eligible individuals and families violates 

Plaintiffs’ and plaintiff class members’ rights under federal and state law;  

E. Award reasonable attorneys’ fees as provided by 42 U.S.C. § 1988; 

F. Grant any such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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      ___________________________ 
      Carolyn Johnson 
      Francine Hahn 
      Homeless Persons Representation Project, Inc. 
      1800 North Charles Street, Suite 206 
      Baltimore, Maryland 21201 
      Telephone: 410-685-6589 
      Facsimile: 410-625-0361 
 
 
      __________________________ 
      Debra Gardner 
      Public Justice Center, Inc. 
      1 North Charles Street, Suite 200 
      Baltimore, Maryland 21201 
      Telephone: 410-625-9409 
      Facsimile: 410-625-9423 
 
 
      ___________________________ 
      Marc Cohan*

      Laura Redman*

      Petra T. Tasheff*

      National Center for Law and Economic Justice 
      275 Seventh Avenue, Suite 1506 
      New York, NY 10001-6708 
      Telephone: 212-633-6967 
      Facsimile:  212-633-6971 
 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff 
       

                                                 
* Motion for Special Admission pending. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing motion and accompanying documents was 

mailed first-class, postage prepaid on August 14, 2009, to: 

Douglas F. Gansler, Attorney General 
David E. Beller 
Julia Doyle Bernhardt 
Kimberly M. Shearin 
Hilma J. Munson 
Assistant Attorneys General 
Office of the Attorney General 
Department of Human Resources 
311 West Saratoga Street  
Baltimore, Maryland 21201 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Debra Gardner 
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